
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

May 1, 2024 

Brian M. Boynton 
Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General 
Civil Division  
U.S. Department of Justice 
950 Pennsylvania Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20530 

Sent via email (civil.feedback@usdoj.gov) 

Dear Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General Boynton: 

Campaign Legal Center (“CLC”) respectfully requests that the Department of 
Justice (“DOJ”) exercise its authority pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 13106(a)(2)(B)(i) and 
investigate whether Justice Clarence Thomas willfully failed to file information required to 
be reported under the Ethics in Government Act (“EIGA”). 

This complaint consolidates decades of reporting on Justice Thomas’s financial 
disclosure discrepancies. The resulting evidence shows a 30-year pattern: Justice Thomas 
initially discloses certain financial interests in compliance with the law, but subsequently 
excludes similar interests after receiving negative media attention. The Justice Department 
can determine whether this evidence shows that Justice Thomas’s failure to file certain 
information violated EIGA, or whether 30 years of omissions constitute a series of 
reoccurring coincidences.  

Public trust is the foundation of all our democratic institutions, including the 
Supreme Court. Failure to fully investigate Justice Thomas for violating EIGA creates an 
exception for blatant violations of a disclosure law that others across the federal 
government understand and regularly follow, which would significantly decrease public 
trust. 

I. LEGAL STANDARD 

Under EIGA, “the Attorney General may bring a civil action in any appropriate 
United States district court against any individual who . . . knowingly and willfully fails to 
file or report any information that such individual is required to report” on their annual 
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financial disclosure reports.1 Individuals required to file such statements include Supreme 
Court justices and other federal officials.2 The DOJ regularly exercises its authority to hold 
federal officials accountable for failing to file or report required information on their 
financial statements.3 

Supreme Court justices are required to disclose, in their annual financial reports, 
“the identity of the source, a brief description, and the value of all gifts” worth more than 
$415 from a single source.4 The annual statements must also include “reimbursements” 
received over $415, where “reimbursements” are defined as payments “to cover travel-
related expenses.”5 Such reimbursements include free travel related expenses “whether 
those expenses were paid directly by a third party or the filer was paid after submitting a 
travel voucher.”6 

Further, Justices must report “[t]he source, type, and amount or value of income,”7 
including income from the discharge of indebtedness;8 as well as details about purchases 
and sales of assets, including the date, value, any gain, and identity of the buyer or seller in 
a private transaction.9 

II. DISCUSSION 

A. Background 
 

Justice Thomas has been subject to the EIGA financial disclosure requirements for 
nearly 40 years, beginning in 1981 when he was appointed to serve as Assistant Secretary 
for Civil Rights at the U.S. Department of Education.10 From 1982 to 1990, Justice Thomas 

 
1 5 U.S.C. 13106(a)(1). 
2 5 U.S.C. §13101(10). 
3 Office of Government Ethics, 2009 Conflict of Interest Prosecution Survey, Legal Advisory DO-10-
017, 11-12 (Nov. 9, 2010), 
https://www.oge.gov/Web/OGE.nsf/News+Releases/C4F8CD0D11A7BE3A852585BA005BECA6/$FIL
E/b3268d9bc 79c44119ba12300ff80b36a1.pdf. (where DOJ prosecuted a Department of Interior 
employee when he failed to disclose travel gifts, including a hunting trip); Josh Gerstein, Ray 
LaHood admitted hiding $50K loan from foreign billionaire, Politico (updated Apr. 1, 2021), 
https://www.politico.com/news/2021/03/31/lahood-loan-foreign-billionaire-478813 (where DOJ 
entered into a non-prosecution agreement with former Secretary of Transportation for failing to 
include a loan he obtained while in office); U.S. v. Safavian, 649 F.3d 688 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (where 
DOJ prosecuted General Services Administration official for failing to disclose gifts of flight on a 
chartered plane). 
4 5 U.S.C. § 13104(a)(2)(A). 
5 5 U.S.C. § 13104(a)(2)(B). 
6 Filing Instructions for Judicial Officers and Employees, Committee on Financial Disclosure, 20 
(Mar. 2023), 
https://www.uscourts.gov/sites/default/files/financial_disclosure_filing_instructions.pdf. https://www.
uscourts.gov/sites/default/files/financial_disclosure_filing_instructions.pdf  
7 5 U.S.C. § 13104(a)(1)(B). 
8 Filing Instructions for Judicial Officers and Employees, supra note 6 at 44. 
9 U.S.C. § 13104(a)(5)(A). 
10 Clarence Thomas, Encyclopedia Britannica (last updated Feb. 8, 2024) 
https://www.britannica.com/biography/Clarence-Thomas. 

https://www.politico.com/news/2021/03/31/lahood-loan-foreign-billionaire-478813
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served as Chairman of the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”).11 In 
1990, he was appointed to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit,12 
and he was appointed to the Supreme Court in 1991.13 Therefore, from 1981 to 2024, 
Justice Thomas has known that the EIGA applies to him and has filed the required 
statements.  

 
Since at least 1997, however, Justice Thomas has filed multiple inaccurate and 

incomplete financial disclosure statements. The inaccurate filings follow the same general 
pattern. First, Justice Thomas files the statements; next the media publishes unflattering 
reports about the information contained in those statements. His subsequent financial 
disclosure statements do not include the controversial information; then, the media alleges 
that Justice Thomas’s financial disclosure statements are inaccurate.14 Finally, if Justice 
Thomas responds to the allegations, he typically states that he was unaware that he was 
required to disclose the information, and then he amends prior financial disclosure 
reports.15  

 
As illustrated in the tables below, this undisclosed information consisted of gifts and 

income he received from 1997 to 2021: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
11 Clarence Thomas, U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, 
https://www.eeoc.gov/history/clarence-thomas (last visited Feb. 16. 2024). 
12 Encyclopedia Britannica, supra note 10. 
13 Id. 
14 Ed Henry, Virginia Thomas: A force in D.C. in her own right, Roll Call (May 27, 1996) (attached as 
Exhibit A); Editorials, Respecting women’s careers, The Indianapolis News (May 24, 1996) (attached 
as Exhibit B); Richard A. Serrano and David G. Savage, Justice Thomas Reports Wealth of Gifts, Los 
Angeles Times (Dec. 31, 2004) (attached as Exhibit C). 
15 See, e.g. Justice Clarence Thomas, 2022 Financial Disclosure Report (filed Aug. 8, 2023), 
https://www.documentcloud.org/documents/23932793-clarence-thomas-2022-financial-disclosure 
(attached as Exhibit D); Clarence Thomas Statement Regarding Unreported Travel Gifts, 
https://www.documentcloud.org/documents/23745868-clarence-thomas-statement-4-7-23 (attached as 
Exhibit E); Clarence Thomas Statements Regarding Unreported Spousal Income, 
https://big.assets.huffingtonpost.com/amendments.pdf (last visited Feb. 15, 2024) (attached as 
Exhibit F). 

https://www.documentcloud.org/documents/23932793-clarence-thomas-2022-financial-disclosure
https://big/
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PATTERN OF NON-COMPLIANCE 

INITIAL COMPLIANCE NEGATIVE MEDIA ATTENTION NON-COMPLIANCE 
1987 – 199616 

 

Disclosed spouse’s 
employer 

199617 
 

Media reporting on controversy of 
spouse’s employment with 

Republican Majority Leader and 
her key role in investigating the 

sitting President 
 

1997-2010 
 

No longer disclosed spouse’s 
employment until media 

reports the omission in 2011 

199718 
 

Disclosed travel 
expenses from a 

friend 

199819 
 

Media reporting on Justice 
Thomas’s receipt of private jet 

travel and expenses from wealthy 
“real estate magnate” 

 
 

1998-2022 
 

No longer discloses travel 
expenses from friends until 
media reports the omission 

in 2023 

200220 
 

Disclosed tuition gift 
for grandnephew 

200421 
 

Media reporting on Justice 
Thomas’s receipt of tuition gift 

 

2009 
 

No longer discloses tuition 
gifts 

201122 
 

Disclosed sales of 
assets, including 

those without capital 
gains 

201123 
 

Media reporting on Justice 
Thomas’s role in having Mr. Crow 
purchase property in Savannah, 

GA from a third party 
 

2014 
 

Does not disclose sale of 
asset to Mr. Crow until 

media reports the omission 
in 2023 

 

 

 

 
16 Supreme Court Justice Clarence Thomas’s Disclosure of Virginia Thomas’s Employment, Common 
Cause and Alliance for Justice, https://www.commoncause.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/thomas-
non-disclosure.pdf (attached as Exhibit G). 
17 Henry, supra note 14. 
18 Brett Murphy & Kirsten Berg, The Judiciary Has Policed Itself for Decades. It Doesn’t Work., 
ProPublica (Dec. 13, 2023), https://www.propublica.org/article/judicial-conference-scotus-federal-
judges-ethics-rules. 
19 Tony Mauro, At least 5 justices are millionaires Holdings force some to bow  
out of cases, USA Today (May 28, 1998) (attached as Exhibit H). 
20 Justice Clarence Thomas, 2002 Financial Disclosure Report at 2 (filed May 15, 2003), 
https://storage.courtlistener.com/us/federal/judicial/financial-disclosures/3200/clarence-thomas-
disclosure.2002.pdf (attached as Exhibit I). 
21 Serrano, supra note 14.  
22 Justice Clarence Thomas, 2011 Financial Disclosure Report at 5-8 (filed May 15, 2012), 
https://storage.courtlistener.com/us/federal/judicial/financial-disclosures/3200/clarence-thomas-
disclosure.2011.pdf (attached as Exhibit J). 
23 Mike McIntire, Friendship of Justice and Magnate Puts Focus on Ethics, N.Y. Times (June 18, 
2011) https://www.nytimes.com/2011/06/19/us/politics/19thomas.html. 
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DECADES OF UNDISCLOSED FINANCIAL INTERESTS 

DATE 

NATURE 
OF 

FINANCIAL 
INTEREST 

ALLEGED UNDISCLOSED FINANCIAL 
INTERESTS 

SOURCE OF 
FINANCIAL INTEREST 

1997 – 2010 Income Spouse’s employer24 
House Majority Leader, 
Heritage Foundation, 

Hillsdale College 

 1998 – 
202125 Gift Travel, lodging, meal, and entertainment at 

Bohemian Grove26 Harlan Crow 

1999 Income Discharge of personal loan27 Anthony Welters 

2000 Gift Travel to private resort in Georgia28 Awakening, Inc. 

2007 Gift Cruise through Greek Islands29 Harlan Crow 

2008 Gift Private jet travel to Savannah, GA and yacht 
travel30 Harlan Crow 

2009 Gift Private jet travel to Dallas, TX; 31 tuition 
payment32 Harlan Crow 

 
24 Supreme Court Justice Clarence Thomas’s Disclosure of Virginia Thomas’s Employment, supra 
note 16. 
25 “Thomas has for 25 years been a regular at the Grove” as Harlan Crow’s guest, according to 
internal documents and interviews with dozens of members, other guests and workers at the retreat. 
Justin Elliott, Joshua Kaplan, and Alex Mierjeski, It’s Not Personal: Why Clarence Thomas’ Trip to 
the Koch Summit Undermines His Ethics Defense, ProPublica (Oct. 5, 2023) 
https://www.propublica.org/article/clarence-thomas-koch-network-trips-disclosure-law-scotus. 
26 Id.  
27 Jo Becker, Justice Thomas’s R.V. Loan Was Forgiven, Senate Inquiry Finds, N.Y. Times (Oct. 25, 
2023) https://www.nytimes.com/2023/10/25/us/politics/clarence-thomas-rv-loan-senate-inquiry.html. 
28 Justin Elliott, Joshua Kaplan, Alex Mierjeski, & Brett Murphy, A “Delicate Matter”: Clarence 
Thomas’ Private Complaints About Money Sparked Fears He Would Resign, ProPublica (Dec. 18, 
2023) https://www.propublica.org/article/clarence-thomas-money-complaints-sparked-resignation-
fears-scotus. 
29 Joshua Kaplan, Justin Elliott, and Alex Mierjeski, Clarence Thomas and the Billionaire,  
ProPublica, (Apr. 6, 2023), https://www.propublica.org/article/clarence-thomas-scotus-undisclosed-
luxury-travel-gifts-crow [hereinafter Clarence Thomas and the Billionaire]. 
30 McIntire, supra note 23.  
31 Id. 
32 Joshua Kaplan, Justin Elliott & Alex Mierjeski, Clarence Thomas Had a Child in Private School. 
Harland Crow Paid the Tuition, ProPublica (Mar. 4, 2023), 
https://www.propublica.org/article/clarence-thomas-harlan-crow-private-school-tuition-scotus 
[hereinafter Clarence Thomas Had a Child in Private School. Harland Crow Paid the Tuition].  
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DATE 

NATURE 
OF 

FINANCIAL 
INTEREST 

ALLEGED UNDISCLOSED FINANCIAL 
INTERESTS 

SOURCE OF 
FINANCIAL INTEREST 

2010 Gift Private jet travel to Savannah, GA33 Harlan Crow 

  201334 Gift Cruise in New Zealand35 Harlan Crow 

2014 Income Real estate sale36 Harlan Crow 

2016 Gift Private jet travel to Connecticut37 Harlan Crow 

2018 Gift All-access pass to college football games;38 

private jet travel to Dallas, TX39 David Sokol; Harlan Crow 

2019 Gift Private jet travel to Indonesia and yacht 
travel40 Harlan Crow 

2021 Gift Private jet travel to New York41 Harlan Crow 

 

Each instance of nondisclosure contributes to a pattern showing knowing and willful 
violations of the EIGA. 

B. Undisclosed Gifts 
 

The undisclosed gifts that Justice Thomas received fall into two gift categories: 
travel and tuition.42 The gifts span two decades and have an estimated total value in the 

 
33 McIntire, supra note 23.  
34 Approximately 2013. 
35 Clarence Thomas and the Billionaire, supra note 29.  
36 Justin Elliott, Joshua Kaplan & Alex Mierjeski, Billionaire Harlan Crow Bought Property From 
Clarence Thomas. The Justice Didn’t Disclose the Deal, ProPublica (Apr. 13, 2023), 
https://www.propublica.org/article/clarence-thomas-harlan-crow-real-estate-scotus.  
37 Clarence Thomas and the Billionaire, supra note 29. 
38 Abbie VanSickle & Steve Eder, Where Clarence Thomas Entered an Elite Circle and Opened a Door 
to the Court, N.Y. Times (updated July 12, 2023), https://www.nytimes.com/2023/07/09/us/clarence-
thomas-horatio-alger-association.html. 
39 Clarence Thomas and the Billionaire, supra note 29. 
40 Id. 
41 Id. 
42 Although the EIGA and the Judicial Conference defines gift to include “any thing of value,” 5 
U.S.C. § 13101(5); see also Guide to Judicial Policy, Vol. 2D, Ch. 1 § 170, 
https://www.uscourts.gov/sites/default/files/guide-vol02d.pdf, gifts of travel related expenses are 
defined as “reimbursements” and are reported on the financial disclosure statements as 
reimbursements and not gifts. 5 U.S.C. § 13101(15); Filing Instructions for Judicial Officers and 
Employees, Committee on Financial Disclosure, 22 (Mar. 2023), 
https://www.uscourts.gov/sites/default/files/financial_disclosure_filing_instructions.pdf. 
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hundreds of thousands of dollars.43 As explained below, the evidence suggests that Justice 
Thomas initially disclosed travel and tuition gifts when the value was relatively low, but he 
stopped disclosing the gifts after receiving media attention and the value of the gifts 
increased.  

1. Travel  
 

For several years after his appointment to the Supreme Court in 1991, Justice 
Thomas reported personal travel that he received from friends, but he later stopped 
disclosing these gifts after USA Today wrote a news article about his travel.  

In 1997, Justice Thomas included in his financial disclosure statement that he 
received “Air travel on personal plane/guest at Bohemian Grove” from “Harlan R. Crow 
(personal friend).”44  

 

 

 

In 1998, USA Today reported about that trip, calling it “[a] free trip for Justice 
Clarence Thomas to the Bohemian Grove club in California in the personal jet of Texas real 
estate magnate Harlan Crow.”45 Justice Thomas’s financial disclosure statements covering 
1998 to 2021 did not report any additional air travel or trips from Mr. Crow. 

 

 
43 Clarence Thomas and the Billionaire, supra note 29. 
44 Murphy & Berg, supra note 18.  
45 Mauro, supra note 19.   
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     However, on April 6, 2023, ProPublica published that “[f]or more than two decades, 
Thomas has accepted luxury trips virtually every year from [Harlan Crow] without 
disclosing them . . . .”46  

 
The next day, April 7, 2023, Justice Thomas released a statement that “[e]arly in my 

tenure at the Court, I sought guidance from my colleagues and others in the judiciary, and 
was advised that this sort of personal hospitality from close personal friends, who did not 
have business before the Court, was not reportable.”47 His statement did not explain why 
he previously disclosed the same type of travel from the same personal friend.  

Justice Thomas demonstrated knowledge of the reporting requirements for travel 
from individuals when he reported the 1997 travel. However, Justice Thomas decided not to 
report many more frequent and expensive travel expenses he received after the report was 
made public in 1998 and his travel received negative media attention.  

The undisclosed travel includes two travel cruises (one through the Greek Islands in 
2007 and one in New Zealand in 2013, both from Harlan Crow) and the following private jet 
transportation:48 

1. Travel to Bohemian Grove, from Harlan Crow (approximately 1998-2021)   
2. Travel to Sea Island, GA, from Awakening, Inc. (2000)  
3. Travel to Savannah, GA, from Harlan Crow (2008)  
4. Travel to Dallas, TX, from Harlan Crow (2009) 
5. Travel to Savannah, GA, from Harlan Crow (2010)  

 
46 Clarence Thomas and the Billionaire, supra note 29. 
47 Clarence Thomas Statement Regarding Unreported Travel Gifts, supra note 15. 
48 Supra notes 33-41. 
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6. Travel to Connecticut, from Harlan Crow (2016) 
7. Travel to Dallas, TX, from Harlan Crow (2018)  
8. Travel to Indonesia with yacht travel, from Harlan Crow (2019)   
9. Travel to New York, from Harlan Crow (2021) 

 
2. Tuition 

Justice Thomas’s shift from compliance to non-compliance is not limited to travel 
reporting requirements. He also initially reported a school tuition gift that he received, but 
stopped reporting such gifts after the first payment was featured in a Los Angeles Times 
news article.  

In 2002, according to Justice Thomas’s financial disclosure statement, he received 
$5,000 for an “Education gift to Mark Martin,” from “Earl and Lousie Dixon.”49 Mark 
Martin is Justice Thomas’s grandnephew who was a minor living with him at the time, and 
Justice Thomas publicly said that he was “raising him as a son.”50  

 

In 2004, the Los Angeles Times and other newspapers reported that “Supreme Court 
Justice Clarence Thomas has accepted tens of thousands of dollars’ worth of gifts since 
joining the Supreme Court, including . . . a $5,000 personal check to help pay a relative’s 
education expenses.”51 After this article, Justice Thomas’s financial disclosures did not 
include any additional payments for Mark Martin’s education.  

 
49 2002 Financial Disclosure Report, supra note 20. 
50 C-SPAN Video Transcript, Q&A with Clarence Thomas, C-SPAN (Oct. 3, 2007), https://www.c-
span.org/video/transcript/?id=8098. 
51 Serrano, supra note 13; Richard A. Serrano & David G. Savage, Justice Thomas Reports Wealth of 
Gifts, Boston Globe (Dec. 31, 2004). 
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In 2009, Mr. Crow paid for Mark Martin’s tuition at private boarding schools.52 The 
estimated value of the tuition was at least $100,000.53 These payments were not disclosed 
as a gift. 

On May 4, 2023, ProPublica published an article revealing that the 2009 tuition 
payments were a gift from Mr. Crow, who confirmed this through a spokesperson.54 Justice 
Thomas did not respond to the allegations that he failed to report the gift, nor did he 
explain why he reported an “education gift” in a prior report but not in this instance.  

Justice Thomas demonstrated knowledge of the reporting requirement for monetary 
gifts. His past reporting reflects his understanding that the 2002 gift of tuition for a child 
he was raising was in fact a gift to the Justice himself who was responsible for paying the 
minor’s tuition. However, following the media attention this tuition payment received in 

 
52 Clarence Thomas Had a Child in Private School. Harland Crow Paid the Tuition, supra note 32.  
53 Id. 
54 Id. 
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2004, Justice Thomas decided to not report the larger payments from well-known 
billionaire Harlan Crow. 

C. Undisclosed Income 
 

The undisclosed income that Justice Thomas received falls into three categories: real 
estate; spouse’s employment income; and discharged loan. The income spans nearly three 
decades and has an estimated total value of approximately $2 million. As explained below, 
the evidence suggests that Justice Thomas initially disclosed income, but he stopped 
disclosing certain income after receiving negative media coverage. 

1. Real Estate Transaction 
 

Since at least 1988, Justice Thomas’s financial disclosure statements included real 
estate he owned in Savannah, GA that generated income.55 As required, he disclosed the 
property in the “Investments” section of the statement, which captures passive income; 
earned income is reported in a different section of the statement. The rental property in 
Savannah, GA remained on his financial disclosure statement until 2009. The property’s 
value is listed as $15,000 or less, which represents Justice Thomas’s 1/3 ownership interest. 

In his 2011 financial disclosure statement, Justice Thomas began reporting the 
purchase and sale of various assets in the same “Investment” section of the financial 
disclosure statement.56 This section requires filers to disclose details about purchases and 
sales of assets, including the date, value, gain (if any), and identity of the buyer/seller if it is 
a private transaction. Justice Thomas demonstrated his understanding of the section and 
reported sales of assets, including those both with and without capital gains.57 

 
55 Justice Clarence Thomas, 1988 Financial Data and Conflict of Interest Response to Senate 
Judiciary Committee’s Questionnaire for Judicial Nominees, 
https://storage.courtlistener.com/us/federal/judicial/financial-disclosures/1/george-washington-
disclosure.1990.pdf (attached as Exhibit K). 
56 2011 Financial Disclosure Report, supra note 22. 
57 Id. Justice Thomas reported the sale of assets and included if the sale resulted in a gain, and left 
others blank, indicating that he did not receive a gain from those sales but still reported them.  
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Also in 2011, the New York Times reported that “Mr. Crow stepped in to finance the 
multimillion-dollar purchase and restoration” of property near Savannah, Georgia.58 The 
owner of the property, Algernon Varn, said that Justice Thomas put him in touch with Mr. 
Crow to buy the property so that it could become a museum to honor Justice Thomas.59 The 
article stated that “Mr. Crow’s financing of the museum, his largest such act of generosity, 
previously unreported, raises the sharpest questions yet – both about Justice Thomas’s 
extrajudicial activities and about the . . . code of conduct for federal judges.”60 Justice 
Thomas declined to respond to the reporters about the article. 

 
58 McIntire, supra note 23.  
59 Id. 
60 Id. 
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In 2014, three years after the New York Times raised ethical concerns about Justice 
Thomas’s relationship to Mr. Crow’s real estate purchase, Mr. Crow bought Justice 
Thomas’s property in Savannah, GA for approximately $133,000.61 Justice Thomas’s 1/3 
interest was valued at approximately $44,333, nearly 3 times more than Justice Thomas 
previously reported.62 However, Justice Thomas did not include the sale of this property to 
Mr. Crow in his financial disclosure statement.  

On April 13, 2023, ProPublica published a report about the 2014 sale of Justice 
Thomas’s Savannah, GA property to Mr. Crow. 

On August 9, 2023, in response to the article, Justice Thomas filed his financial 
disclosure statements for calendar year 2022, and wrote that “[i]n 2014, Mr. Harlan Crow, a 
longtime friend of filer and his wife, bought all three properties for $133,000, along with 
other houses/lots on the same street . . . filer inadvertently failed to realize that the ‘sales 
transaction’ for the final disposition of the three properties triggered a new reportable 
transaction in 2014, even though this sale resulted in a capital loss.”63 Justice Thomas did 
not explain how he had a capital loss when Mr. Crow’s purchase price was 3 times the 
amount that Justice Thomas valued the property. He also did not explain why he reported 
other asset sales that did not have capital gains, but not this asset sale. 

Justice Thomas established his knowledge of the reporting requirement for asset 
purchases and sales on his 2011, 2012, and 2013 financial disclosure statements 

 
61 McIntire, supra note 23. 
62 Justice Clarence Thomas, 2013 Financial Disclosure Report (filed May 15, 2014) 
https://storage.courtlistener.com/us/federal/judicial/financial-disclosures/3200/clarence-thomas-
disclosure.2013.pdf (attached as Exhibit L). 
63 Justice Clarence Thomas, 2022 Financial Disclosure Report at 8, supra note 15.  
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immediately preceding the 2014 statement that excluded the real estate sale.64 However, 
following the 2011 high-profile New York Times article about Mr. Crow’s purchase of real 
estate to honor Justice Thomas, the sale of property was not included in the financial 
disclosure statement for that year. 

2. Spouse’s Employer 
 

Although the Judicial Conference already reviewed Justice Thomas’s failure to 
disclose the source of his spouse’s income for over a decade in 2012, this failure is newly 
relevant when placed in context of his other omissions.65  

 
In 1987, Justice Thomas married his wife Virginia,66 and he reported the source of 

her income on his financial disclosure forms for 1987 to 1996, which included the office of 
House Majority Leader Dick Armey.67  

 
In 1996, Virginia Thomas, as an aide to Majority Leader Armey, made newspaper 

headlines when Democratic members questioned her motives of advancing the so-called 
“Travelgate” investigation of President Bill Clinton.68 One member of the House 
Government Reform and Oversight Committee insinuated that Mrs. Thomas’s status as the 
spouse of a Supreme Court Justice appointed by a Republican president created the 
appearance of undue political influence in the investigation.69  

 

 
64 2011 Financial Disclosure Report, supra note 21; Justice Clarence Thomas, 2012 Financial 
Disclosure Report (filed May 15, 2013) https://storage.courtlistener.com/us/federal/judicial/financial-
disclosures/3200/clarence-thomas-disclosure.2012.pdf (attached as Exhibit M); 2013 Financial 
Disclosure Report, supra note 62. 
65 Letter from Honorable Thomas F. Hogan, Secretary of the Judicial Conference, to Rep. Louise M. 
Slaughter et al. (Apr. 30, 2012), available at 
https://www.whitehouse.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/Testimony%20of%20Hon.%20Mark%20L.%20Wolf
%20with%20Exhibits%201-3%20(5.15.23).pdf. 
66 Encyclopedia Britannica, supra note 10. 
67 Supreme Court Justice Clarence Thomas’s Disclosure of Virginia Thomas’s Employment, supra 
note 16. 
68 Henry, supra note 14. 
69 Editorials, supra note 14. 

https://storage.courtlistener.com/us/federal/judicial/financial-disclosures/3200/clarence-thomas-disclosure.2012.pdf
https://storage.courtlistener.com/us/federal/judicial/financial-disclosures/3200/clarence-thomas-disclosure.2012.pdf


15 
 

 

 
From 1997 to 2010, Justice Thomas no longer reported his spouse’s employer. The 

amount of income his spouse received from her employers during that period was 
approximately $1.6 million.70  
 

On January 21, 2011, Common Cause notified the Judicial Conference that the 
Heritage Foundation’s public tax filings listed Justice Thomas’s spouse as an employee, yet 
the organization was not disclosed as her employer on Justice Thomas’s financial disclosure 
statements.71 
 

On the same day, Justice Thomas informed the Judicial Conference’s Financial 
Disclosure Committee that “[i]t has come to my attention that information regarding my 
spouse’s employment required in Part III B of my financial disclosure report was 
inadvertently omitted due to a misunderstanding of the filing instructions.”72 He did not 
explain why his misunderstanding of the reporting requirements for his spouse’s employer 

 
70 Rep. Louise M. Slaughter and Rep. Earl Blumenauer, et al., Letter to Presiding Officer of the 
Judicial Conference (Nov. 18, 2011) (attached as Exhibit N); Letter to James Duff on Virginia 
Thomas’ Income (Jan. 21, 2011), 
71 Letter to James Duff on Virginia Thomas’ Income, Common Cause (Jan. 21, 2011) 
https://www.commoncause.org/resource/letter-to-james-duff-on-virginia-thomas-income/ (attached as 
Exhibit O). 
72 Clarence Thomas Statements Regarding Unreported Spousal Income, supra note 15; Ariane de 
Vogue & Devin Dwyer, Justice Clarence Thomas Amends 20 Years of Disclosure Forms With Wife’s 
Employers, ABC News (Jan. 24, 2011), 
https://abcnews.go.com/Politics/Supreme_Court/justice-clarence-thomas-amends-financial-
disclosurereports-virginia/story?id=12750650. 
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developed after ten years of providing that same information on his financial disclosure 
statements. 

 
Justice Thomas established that he knew the requirement to report the employer of 

his spouse when he reported this from 1987 to 1996. However, Justice Thomas omitted his 
wife’s employer beginning in 1997 after the 1996 media attention surrounding his wife’s 
work for a Republican member of Congress while investigating the Democratic President. 

3. Discharged Loan  
 

In 1999, Justice Thomas received a loan for $267,230 from a friend, Anthony 
Welters, to purchase a 40-foot luxury motor coach. In 2008, Mr. Welters forgave the loan.  

On October 25, 2023, the New York Times published an article citing a report by the 
Senate Finance Committee that the $267,230 loan had been deemed “satisfied” by the 
owner, but there was no evidence that Justice Thomas paid anything on the loan except a 
limited amount of the interest owed.73 

Specifically, the Senate Finance Committee report found that ”[n]ew evidence 
indicates that Justice Thomas failed to repay a significant portion of the principal of the 
[loan].”74 Pursuant to financial disclosure statement instructions for federal judges, Justices 
are required to disclose ”non-investment income, such as . . . discharge of indebtedness . . . 
.”75 Justice Thomas’s financial disclosure statement for 2008 did not include the discharge 
of this loan as income. 

Justice Thomas has not provided any explanation as to whether he paid the full 
balance of the loan. Instead, his lawyer stated that Justice Thomas “made all payments . . . 
until the terms of the agreement were satisfied in full.”76 This response is contrary to the 
findings of the Senate Finance Committee, which concluded that Justice Thomas paid 
mostly interest payments on the loan. Unlike Justice Thomas’s other omissions outlined 
above, he did not previously report discharged loans. Nevertheless, his prior disclosure of 
income from various sources established a knowledge of the income reporting requirement 
that was not followed for this discharged debt. This significant omission cannot be assumed 
to be an oversight in the context of his other omissions and requires further investigation 
by the Department of Justice.  

 

 

 
73 Becker, supra note 27. 
74 Memorandum to Sen. Ron Wyden from Finance Committee Democratic Staff, Clarence Thomas did 
not repay entire principal on $267,230 from Tony Welters (Oct. 25, 2023), 
https://www.finance.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/senate_finance_committee_welters_thomas_memo_10
2523.pdf (attached as Exhibit P). 
75 Guide to Judicial Policy, Vol. 2D, Ch. 1 § 320 at 11, 
https://www.uscourts.gov/sites/default/files/guide-vol02d.pdf. 
76 Becker, supra note 27. 
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III.  CONCLUSION 
 
Justice Thomas’s nearly 30-year pattern of publicly disclosing certain financial 

interests but excluding those interests after they draw public attention creates 
circumstances sufficiently strong to warrant the DOJ to conduct its own investigation into 
whether he knowingly and willfully withheld information on his financial disclosure 
statements. 

Failure of the DOJ to act in this matter signals to financial disclosure filers across 
the federal government that they can repeatedly claim to not understand the disclosure 
rules, and no investigation to determine the veracity of the defense will follow. This creates 
an “ignorance of the law” defense for violations of the EIGA in all circumstances. 

Justice Thomas is unique because of the egregiousness of his violations, which is 
evident when comparing the facts in his matter to the allegations of ethical misconduct 
against the following Justices over the past two years: Chief Justice John Roberts,77 Justice 
Samuel Alito,78 Justice Sonia Sotomayor,79 Justice Neil Gorsuch,80 and Justice Ketanji 
Brown Jackson.81 Only two of the allegations against the other Justices involve financial 
disclosure requirements and none involve a Justice showing a clear understanding of the 
rules and then changing course suddenly to no longer comply with a rule. And the 
allegations against the other Justices absolutely do not cover repeated non-compliance 
spanning three decades.    

For these reasons, CLC respectfully requests the DOJ exercise its authority under 
EIGA and investigate Justice Thomas to determine whether a true violation occurred. 

 
77 Nicholas Reimann, Chief Justice John Roberts’ Wife Made Over $10 Million As Legal Consultant, 
Report Says, Forbes (Apr. 28, 2023), https://www.forbes.com/sites/nicholasreimann/2023/04/28/chief-
justice-john-roberts-wife-made-over-10-million-as-legal-consultant-report-says/?sh=6d71bd01e9a9 
(explaining that Jane Roberts matched top lawyers with law firms that had cases before the 
Supreme Court and earned commission payments at the high-end). 
78 Jodi Kantor & Jo Becker, Former Anti-Abortion Leader Alleges Another Supreme Court Breach, 
N.Y. Times (Nov. 19, 2022), https://www.nytimes.com/2022/11/19/us/supreme-court-leak-abortion-
roe-wade.html (alleging that Justice Alito disclosed the Burwell v. Hobby Lobby decision to Rev. Rob 
Schenck).  
79 Brian Slodysko & Eric Tucker, Supreme Court Justice Sotomayor’s staff prodded colleges and 
libraries to buy her books, Associated Press (Jul. 11, 2023), https://apnews.com/article/supreme-court-
sotomayor-book-sales-ethics-colleges-b2cb93493f927f995829762cb8338c02 (explaining that Justice 
Sotomayor used taxpayer-funded court staff to get colleges and libraries to buy copies of her books 
prior to her appearances). 
80 Heidi Przybyla, Law firm head bought Gorsuch-owned property, Politico (Apr. 25, 2023), 
https://www.politico.com/news/2023/04/25/neil-gorsuch-colorado-property-sale-00093579 (revealing 
that Justice Gorsuch did not report who bought the property he owned a portion of and that the 
purchaser’s firm has had multiple cases before the Supreme Court). 
81 Amy Howe, Jackson’s financial disclosure reveals additional income in previous years, 
SCOTUSblog (Sep. 15, 2022), https://www.scotusblog.com/2022/09/jacksons-financial-disclosure-
reveals-additional-income-in-previous-years (explaining that Justice Jackson previously omitted 
information about reimbursements and teaching income on financial disclosure reports filed when 
she was a federal district court judge). 
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Respectfully Submitted,     
_________/s/_________     
Kedric L. Payne     
General Counsel and Senior Director, Ethics 
Campaign Legal Center     
    
_________/s/_________     
Danielle Caputo    
Legal Counsel, Ethics     
Campaign Legal Center  
 
_________/s/_________     
Sophia Gonsalves-Brown 
Senior Researcher, Campaign Finance and 
Ethics 
Campaign Legal Center  
 

  
 



 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 



Star Tribune (Minneapolis, Minnesota) ·  Mon, May 27, 1996 ·  Page 8

https://www.newspapers.com/image/195064276 Printed on Feb 2, 2024

Copyright © 2024 Newspapers.com. All Rights Reserved.
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The Indianapolis News (Indianapolis, Indiana) ·  Fri, May 24, 1996 ·  Page 6

https://www.newspapers.com/image/313276519 Printed on Feb 1, 2024

Copyright © 2024 Newspapers.com. All Rights Reserved.
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EXHIBIT D 



AO 10
Rev. 1/2021

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE REPORT
FOR CALENDAR YEAR 2022

Report Required by the Ethics
in Government Act of 1978
(5 U.S.C. app. §§ 101-111)

1. Person Reporting (last name, first, middle initial)

THOMAS, CLARENCE

2. Court or Organization

SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES

3. Date of Report

08/09/2023

4. Title (Article III judges indicate active or senior status;
magistrate judges indicate full- or part-time)

ASSOCIATE JUSTICE

5a. Report Type (check appropriate type)

 Nomination Date

 Initial  ✔ Annual  Final

5b.  Amended Report

6. Reporting Period

01/01/2022
to

12/31/2022

7. Chambers or Office Address

SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES
1 FIRST STREET, N.E.
WASHINGTON, D. C. 20543

IMPORTANT NOTES: The instructions accompanying this form must be followed. Complete all parts,
checking the NONE box for each part where you have no reportable information.

I. POSITIONS. (Reporting individual only; see pp. 9-13 of filing instructions.)

NONE (No reportable positions.)

POSITION NAME OF ORGANIZATION/ENTITY

1. Honorary Member, Board of Directors Horatio Alger Association

2.

3.

4.

5.

II. AGREEMENTS. (Reporting individual only; see pp. 14-16 of filing instructions.)

✔ NONE (No reportable agreements.)

DATE PARTIES AND TERMS

1.

2.

3.



FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE REPORT
Page 2 of 9

Name of Person Reporting

THOMAS, CLARENCE

Date of Report

08/09/2023

III. NON-INVESTMENT INCOME. (Reporting individual and spouse; see pp. 17-24 of filing instructions.)

A. Filer's Non-Investment Income

NONE (No reportable non-investment income.)

DATE SOURCE AND TYPE INCOME
(yours, not spouse's)

1. 12/20/2022 Antonin Scalia Law School at George Mason $12,000.00

2.

3.

4.

B. Spouse's Non-Investment Income - If you were married during any portion of the reporting year, complete this section.

(Dollar amount not required except for honoraria.)

NONE (No reportable non-investment income.)

DATE SOURCE AND TYPE

1. 2022 Liberty Consulting, Inc. - salary and benefits

2.

3.

4.

IV. REIMBURSEMENTS -- transportation, lodging, food, entertainment.

(Includes those to spouse and dependent children; see pp. 25-27 of filing instructions.)

NONE (No reportable reimbursements.)

SOURCE DATES LOCATION PURPOSE ITEMS PAID OR PROVIDED

1. Harlan Crow 2/3/2022 - 2/5/2022 Dallas, Texas Keynote Speaker at
American Enterprise
Institute’s Conference at
Old Parkland

Transportation (only return flight) and
meals. Flew private on return trip due to
unexpected ice storm.

2. Hatch Center 3/10/2022 - 3/12/2022 Salt Lake City, Utah Featured Speaker Transportation, meals, and lodging

3. Harlan Crow 5/12/2022 - 5/14/2022 Dallas, Texas Keynote Speaker at
American Enterprise
Institute’s Conference at
Old Parkland

Transportation and meals - See Part VIII.

4. Harlan Crow 7/7/2022 - 7/13/2022 Keese Mill, NY Guests of source Transportation, meals and lodging - See
Part VIII.
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Name of Person Reporting

THOMAS, CLARENCE

Date of Report

08/09/2023

5.



FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE REPORT
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Name of Person Reporting

THOMAS, CLARENCE

Date of Report

08/09/2023

V. GIFTS. (Includes those to spouse and dependent children; see pp. 28-31 of filing instructions.)

✔ NONE (No reportable gifts.)

SOURCE DESCRIPTION VALUE

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

VI. LIABILITIES. (Includes those of spouse and dependent children; see pp. 32-33 of filing instructions.)

✔ NONE (No reportable liabilities.)

CREDITOR DESCRIPTION VALUE CODE

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.



FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE REPORT
Page 5 of 9

Name of Person Reporting

THOMAS, CLARENCE

Date of Report

08/09/2023

VII. INVESTMENTS and TRUSTS -- income, value, transactions (Includes those of spouse and dependent children; see pp. 34-60 of filing instructions.)

NONE (No reportable income, assets, or transactions.)

A.

Description of Assets

(including trust assets)

Place "(X)" after each asset

exempt from prior disclosure

B.

Income during

reporting period

(1)

Amount
Code 1

(A-H)

(2)

Type (e.g.,

div., rent,

or int.)

C.

Gross value at end

of reporting period

(1)

Value

Code 2

(J-P)

(2)

Value

Method

Code 3

(Q-W)

D.

Transactions during reporting period

 

(1)

Type (e.g.,

buy, sell,

redemption)

(2)

Date

mm/dd/yy

(3)

Value

Code 2

(J-P)

(4)

Gain

Code 1

(A-H)

(5)

Identity of

buyer/seller

(if private

transaction)

1. Income Gain Codes:

(See Columns B1 and D4)

2. Value Codes

(See Columns C1 and D3)

3. Value Method Codes

(See Column C2)

A =$1,000 or less

F =$50,001 - $100,000

J =$15,000 or less

N =$250,001 - $500,000

P3 =$25,000,001 - $50,000,000

Q =Appraisal

U =Book Value

B =$1,001 - $2,500

G =$100,001 - $1,000,000

K =$15,001 - $50,000

O =$500,001 - $1,000,000

R =Cost (Real Estate Only)

V =Other

C =$2,501 - $5,000

H1 =$1,000,001 - $5,000,000

L =$50,001 - $100,000

P1 =$1,000,001 - $5,000,000

P4 =More than $50,000,000

S =Assessment

W =Estimated

D =$5,001 - $15,000

H2 =More than $5,000,000

M =$100,001 - $250,000

P2 =$5,000,001 - $25,000,000

T =Cash Market

E =$15,001 - $50,000

1. MONY Flexible Premium Adjustable Life n/
k/a AXA Universal Life Policy

D Dividend M T

2. MONY Whole - n/k/a/ AXA Universal Life
Policy

C Dividend Redeemed 10/19/22 M F

3. Equitable Variable Universal Life Policy Y

4. -70% S&P 500 Index account B Dividend L T

5. -30% Guaranteed account A Interest K T

6. Wells Fargo IRA CD A Interest J T

7. Ginger Holdings, LLC (formerly Ginger,
LTD, Partnership)

F Rent O W

8. Congressional Federal Credit Union (Cash
Accounts) Y

A Interest M T

9. Liberty Consulting, Inc. None J U

10. Vanguard IRA (H)

11. -VANGUARD FEDERAL MONEY
MARKET FUND

A Dividend J T

12. -VANGUARD EMERGING MARKETS
STOCK INDEX ADMIRAL CL VEMAX

A Dividend K T

13. -VANGUARD 500 INDEX ADMIRAL CL
VFIAX

B Dividend M T Sold 
(part)

02/18/22 M D

14. -VANGUARD HEALTHCARE
INVESTOR CL (VGHCX)

B Dividend K T

15. -VANGUARD SMALL CAP VALUE
INDEX ADMIRAL CL (VSIAX)

B Dividend L T

16. -VANGUARD TOTAL INTL STOCK
INDEX ADMIRAL CL (VTIAX)

A Dividend K T

17. -VANGUARD VALUE INDEX ADMIRAL
CL

B Dividend L T Sold 
(part)

02/18/22 L D
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Name of Person Reporting

THOMAS, CLARENCE

Date of Report

08/09/2023

VII. INVESTMENTS and TRUSTS -- income, value, transactions (Includes those of spouse and dependent children; see pp. 34-60 of filing instructions.)

NONE (No reportable income, assets, or transactions.)

A.

Description of Assets

(including trust assets)

Place "(X)" after each asset

exempt from prior disclosure

B.

Income during

reporting period

(1)

Amount
Code 1

(A-H)

(2)

Type (e.g.,

div., rent,

or int.)

C.

Gross value at end

of reporting period

(1)

Value

Code 2

(J-P)

(2)

Value

Method

Code 3

(Q-W)

D.

Transactions during reporting period

 

(1)

Type (e.g.,

buy, sell,

redemption)

(2)

Date

mm/dd/yy

(3)

Value

Code 2

(J-P)

(4)

Gain

Code 1

(A-H)

(5)

Identity of

buyer/seller

(if private

transaction)

1. Income Gain Codes:

(See Columns B1 and D4)

2. Value Codes

(See Columns C1 and D3)

3. Value Method Codes

(See Column C2)

A =$1,000 or less

F =$50,001 - $100,000

J =$15,000 or less

N =$250,001 - $500,000

P3 =$25,000,001 - $50,000,000

Q =Appraisal

U =Book Value

B =$1,001 - $2,500

G =$100,001 - $1,000,000

K =$15,001 - $50,000

O =$500,001 - $1,000,000

R =Cost (Real Estate Only)

V =Other

C =$2,501 - $5,000

H1 =$1,000,001 - $5,000,000

L =$50,001 - $100,000

P1 =$1,000,001 - $5,000,000

P4 =More than $50,000,000

S =Assessment

W =Estimated

D =$5,001 - $15,000

H2 =More than $5,000,000

M =$100,001 - $250,000

P2 =$5,000,001 - $25,000,000

T =Cash Market

E =$15,001 - $50,000

18. -VANGUARD WELLINGTON ADMIRAL
CL (VWENX) Y

B Dividend L T Buy 03/15/22 L

19. -VANGUARD WELLESLEY INCOME
ADMIRAL CL (VWIAX) Y

D Dividend M T Buy 02/18/22 M

20. -MORGAN STANLEY BANK NA SLC,
UT CD FDIC #32992 CPN 2.800% DUE
3/14/22

A Interest Redeemed 03/14/22 K A

21. -CENTERSTATE BANK WINTER
HAVEN FL CD FDIC#33555 CPN 1.000%
DUE 3/31/25

A Interest L T
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Name of Person Reporting

THOMAS, CLARENCE

Date of Report

08/09/2023

VIII. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OR EXPLANATIONS. (Indicate part of report.)

During the preparation and filing of this report, filer sought and received guidance from the Supreme Court’s Legal Office, the Counselor to the Chief Justice,
 the staff of the Judicial Conference Financial Disclosure Committee (“Committee”), and personal counsel. Filer continues to work with Supreme Court officials
 and the Committee staff for guidance on whether he should further amend his reports from any prior years.  Based on those discussions, the information below
 addresses the new travel disclosure requirements which began coverage with calendar year 2022, personal bank accounts and his spouse’s life insurance that were
 inadvertently omitted from prior reports for the covered period 2017 thru 2021, mistaken name of spouse’s family real estate holding, and a real estate transaction
 that predated the covered period. 

TRAVEL

As relates to the personal hospitality reporting exemption, filer has included all reportable travel on his Calendar Year 2022 Report, in accordance with the
 new rules that went into effect on March 14, 2023, as advised by the Supreme Court’s Legal Office, the Counselor to the Chief Justice, the staff of the Judicial
 Conference Financial Disclosure Committee, and personal counsel.  

On March 14, 2023, the Judicial Conference provided new guidance on the “personal hospitality” exemption to explicitly state for the first time that “transportation
 that substitutes for commercial transportation” will no longer be considered exempt from reporting under that provision.  As a result, filer will report any such
 trips, beginning with this filing for calendar year 2022. 

Prior to the March 14, 2023 guidance, filer adhered to the then existing judicial regulations as his colleagues had done, both in practice and in consultation with the
 Judicial Conference, that exempted disclosing trips that were provided pursuant to the “personal hospitality” exemption, as set forth in the statute and rules.   As
 far back as the 1984 Judicial Conference guidance, under the section titled, “Gifts of transportation, lodging, food, or entertainment,” filers were instructed to:

Exclude gifts received as the personal hospitality of any individual.  The Act defines ‘personal hospitality of any individual’ as ‘hospitality extended for a non-
business purpose by an individual, not a corporation or an organization, at the personal residence of that individual or his family or on property or facilities owned
 by that individual or his family.
 
Guide to Judiciary Policies and Procedures (1984) at 843-44.

The Judicial Conference, which is charged by the Ethics in Government Act, 5 U.S.C. app. §§ 13101-13111, with implementing this law for the judiciary, has
 provided written guidance through its regulations and advice interpreting the statute that such travel need not be reported.  In fact, filer is not aware of anything in
 the Judicial Conference regulations issued for more than thirty years or in any advice provided by the Judicial Conference to judges that is inconsistent with this
 position.  

For example, Judge Raymond Randolph, who served on the Judicial Conference Codes of Conduct Committee from 1992-98, including as chairman from 1995-98,
 received guidance in 2006 from Judicial Conference staff, as reflected in contemporaneous notes, that he did not have to report travel on a private jet and at a
 lodge based on the personal hospitality exemption.  Filer was also so advised by Conference staff, and in conversations with court officers and colleagues early in
 his tenure on the Court. 

In Part IV, Line 3: With advice of the Administrative Office, flights were reported as advised. Because of the increased security risk following the Dobbs opinion
 leak, the May flights were by private plane for official travel as filer’s security detail recommended noncommercial travel whenever possible. 

In Part IV, Line 4: Flights to and from Adirondacks by private plane and lodging, food, and entertainment at the Adirondacks property, were reportable under and
 in compliance with the new guidance and, according to advice from the staff of the Judicial Conference Financial Disclosure Committee (July 10), to be listed
 under “reimbursements” not “gifts.”  This is consistent with previous filings by other filers. 

BANK ACCOUNTS, SPOUSE'S LIFE INSURANCE, & FAMILY REAL ESTATE HOLDING 
  
2022: Part VII, Line 3: Life insurance policy, owned by spouse, was inadvertently omitted from prior reports during the covered period. Part VII, Line 7: On or
 around February 17, 2006, Ginger LTD, Partnership changed its legal name to its present name of Ginger Holdings LLC. The name change was in conjunction
 with a conversion to an LLC from a limited partnership as permitted under Nebraska state law. Due to the similarity in names, filer inadvertently carried the old
 name on prior reports during the covered period. Part VII, Line 8: Personal bank accounts at Congressional Federal Credit Union were inadvertently omitted in
 prior years due to a misinterpretation of the rules.  Filer believed that personal bank accounts were exempt from reporting disclosure. 
  
Filer discloses the following assets that were inadvertently omitted from his reports during the covered period 2017 thru 2021: 

2021: Bank accounts at Congressional Federal Credit Union were inadvertently omitted.  Combined bank account balances at year-end were under $55,000 and
 earned less than $200 in interest.  Life insurance policy of spouse held through Equitable was inadvertently omitted.  Year-end cash value was under $100,000 and
 earned $5,000 or less in income. 

2020: Bank accounts at Congressional Federal Credit Union were inadvertently omitted.  Combined bank account balances at year-end were under $110,000 and
 earned less than $400 in interest.  Life insurance policy of spouse held through Equitable was inadvertently omitted.  Year-end cash value was under $100,000 and
 earned $2,500 or less in income. 
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Name of Person Reporting

THOMAS, CLARENCE

Date of Report

08/09/2023

VIII. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OR EXPLANATIONS. (Indicate part of report.)

2019: Bank accounts at Congressional Federal Credit Union were inadvertently omitted.  Combined bank account balances at year-end were under $50,000 and
 earned less than $400 in interest.  Life insurance policy of spouse held through Equitable was inadvertently omitted.  Year-end cash value was under $100,000
 and earned $2,500 or less in income.  The policy at Equitable had previously been held at MONY Life Insurance Company of America but was terminated on
 or around December 16, 2019, and rolled over into Equitable in a tax-free exchange under Internal Revenue Code §1035.  Prior to the rollover, the MONY Life
 Insurance Company of America life insurance policy had a cash value of under $100,000 and earned $2,500 or less in income. 

2018: Bank accounts at Congressional Federal Credit Union were inadvertently omitted.  Combined bank account balances at year-end were under $70,000 and
 earned less than $300 in interest.  Life insurance policy of spouse held through MONY Life Insurance Company of America was inadvertently omitted.  Year-end
 cash value was under $100,000 and earned $2,500 or less in income.  

2017: Bank accounts at Congressional Federal Credit Union were inadvertently omitted.  Combined bank account balances at year-end were under $10,000 and
 earned less than $300 in interest.  Life insurance policy of spouse held through MONY Life Insurance Company of America was inadvertently omitted.  Year-end
 cash value was under $100,000 and earned $2,500 or less in income. 

SAVANNAH REAL ESTATE TRANSACTION

Although outside the covered period, filer provides the following supplemental information regarding the 2014 disposition of certain real estate interests he held
 with members of his family in Savannah, Georgia. In 1984, filer inherited a 1/3 interest in three properties: his mother’s residence and two additional houses on
 the same street. 

In 2014, Mr. Harlan Crow, a longtime friend of filer and his wife, bought all three properties for $133,000, along with other houses/lots on the same street.  Filer
 and his wife had put between $50,000 to $75,000 into his mother’s home in capital improvements over the years, and therefore, the transaction amounted to a
 capital loss.

Filer had previously reported his interest in two of the Savannah properties (excluding his mother’s residence) in the years when they generated rental income.
  Once these properties no longer generated any rental income, filer was advised by Committee staff to remove the two properties from his disclosure forms. 
 However, filer inadvertently failed to realize that the “sales transaction” for the final disposition of the three properties triggered a new reportable transaction in
 2014, even though this sale resulted in a capital loss.
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Name of Person Reporting

THOMAS, CLARENCE

Date of Report

08/09/2023

IX. CERTIFICATION.

I certify that all information given above (including information pertaining to my spouse and minor or dependent children, if any) is
accurate, true, and complete to the best of my knowledge and belief, and that any information not reported was withheld because it met applicable statutory
provisions permitting non-disclosure.

I further certify that earned income from outside employment and honoraria and the acceptance of gifts which have been reported are in
compliance with the provisions of 5 U.S.C. app. § 501 et. seq., 5 U.S.C. § 7353, and Judicial Conference regulations.

Signature:  s/ CLARENCE THOMAS

NOTE: ANY INDIVIDUAL WHO KNOWINGLY AND WILLFULLY FALSIFIES OR FAILS TO FILE THIS REPORT MAY BE SUBJECT TO CIVIL
AND CRIMINAL SANCTIONS (5 U.S.C. app. § 104)

Committee on Financial Disclosure
Administrative Office of the United States Courts
Suite 2-301
One Columbus Circle, N.E.
Washington, D.C. 20544



 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT E 



Please see the following statement from Justice Clarence Thomas: 
  

Harlan and Kathy Crow are among our dearest friends, and we have been friends for 
over twenty-five years. As friends do, we have joined them on a number of family trips 
during the more than quarter century we have known them. Early in my tenure at the 
Court, I sought guidance from my colleagues and others in the judiciary, and was 
advised that this sort of personal hospitality from close personal friends, who did not 
have business before the Court, was not reportable. I have endeavored to follow that 
counsel throughout my tenure, and have always sought to comply with the disclosure 
guidelines. These guidelines are now being changed, as the committee of the Judicial 
Conference responsible for financial disclosure for the entire federal judiciary just this 
past month announced new guidance. And, it is, of course, my intent to follow this 
guidance in the future. 

  
Public Information Office 
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EXHIBIT G 



                                                                                                    
 

Supreme Court Justice Clarence Thomas’s Disclosure of Virginia Thomas’s Employment 

Year                        Employer Salary and 
Benefits 

Justice Thomas’s 
Disclosure 

1987 U.S. Chamber of Commerce             Not known Employment 
recorded** 

1988 U.S. Chamber of Commerce             Not known No records available 

1989 U.S. Department of Labor                    Not known No records available 

1990 U.S. Department of Labor                    Not known No records available 

1991 U.S. Department of Labor                    Not known Employment 
recorded** 

1992 U.S. Department of Labor                    Not known Employment 
recorded*** 

1993 House Republican Conference (Dick Armey) $72,982* Employment 
recorded*** 

1994 House Republican Conference (Dick Armey)  $68,850* Employment 
recorded*** 

1995 House Majority Leader (Dick Armey) $109,098* Employment 
recorded*** 

1996 House Majority Leader (Dick Armey) $110,238* Employment 
recorded*** 

1997 House Majority Leader (Dick Armey) $119,563* Recorded as ‘None’ *** 

1998 House Majority Leader (Dick Armey) $110,083* Recorded as ‘None’ *** 

1999 Heritage Foundation                 $115,075 Recorded as ‘None’ *** 

2000 Heritage Foundation                 Not known Recorded as ‘None’ *** 

2001 Heritage Foundation                 $136,598 Recorded as ‘None’ *** 

2002 Heritage Foundation                  $153,278 Recorded as ‘None’ *** 

2003 Heritage Foundation                  $156,220 Recorded as ‘None’*** 

2004 Heritage Foundation                  $168,099 Recorded as ‘None’*** 

2005 Heritage Foundation                  $157,389 Recorded as ‘None’*** 

2006 Heritage Foundation                  $164,246 Recorded as ‘None’*** 

2007 Heritage Foundation                  $181,812 Recorded as ‘None’*** 

2008 Heritage Foundation Jan.-Oct.   
Hillsdale College Oct. onwards 

Not known 
Not known 

Recorded as ‘None’*** 

2009  Hillsdale College $151,126 Recorded as ‘None’*** 

Total known earnings in all years $1,974,657 

Total when recorded as ‘None’ $1,613,489 
* Documents obtained through the Office of the Clerk of the U.S. House of Representatives, on file with Common Cause. 
** Justice Thomas disclosure forms on file with Alliance for Justice. 
*** Justice Thomas disclosure forms on file with Common Cause. 
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USA TODAY

May 28, 1998, Thursday,

FINAL EDITION

Copyright 1998 Gannett Company, Inc.

Section: NEWS;

Length: 679 words

Byline: Tony Mauro

Dateline: WASHINGTON

Body

WASHINGTON -- At least five, and possibly six, of the Supreme

Court's nine justices are millionaires.

Financial disclosure forms for 1997, released this week, indicate

that President Clinton's two appointees to the high court -- Ruth

Bader Ginsburg and Stephen Breyer -- are the wealthiest. They

are worth as much as $ 24 million and $ 16 million, respectively.

Also listing more than $ 1 million in assets are Sandra Day O'Connor,

David Souter and John Paul Stevens. Antonin Scalia reported assets

of $ 675,000 to $ 1.59 million.

Assets are listed in ranges, which makes precise totals impossible

to compute.

Most of the wealth of Breyer and Ginsburg comes through their

spouses.

Breyer's wife, Joanna, is from a prominent British family. Her

mother died last year, so in addition the justice's disclosure

form lists an inheritance valued at $ 1 million to $ 5 million.

Ginsburg's husband, Martin, is a well-known tax lawyer and Georgetown

University law professor.

Ginsburg's disclosure form reveals that she and her husband sold

as much as $ 1 million in stocks last July and put the money into

mutual funds.

https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=news&id=urn:contentItem:3ST7-FCG0-00C6-D316-00000-00&context=1519360
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The transactions came after Insight Magazine reported that

Justice Ginsburg had participated in 21 cases that involved companies

in which Martin Ginsburg had invested. At the time, he said he

had misunderstood the nature of an IRA account through which he

owned the company stocks and would sell them immediately.

Several justices report extensive stock holdings, some of which

prompt them to bow out of cases.

Among more than a dozen stock holdings listed by O'Connor is $ 15,000

to $ 50,000 in AT&T Corp. securities. She sold less than $ 15,000

worth of the stock last year.

Last year USA TODAY reported that O'Connor's ownership in AT&T

stock had prompted her to recuse herself from more than two dozen

cases in recent years.

O'Connor already has stated her intention to bow out of a case

that will be argued this fall in which part of the Telecommunications

Act of 1996 is under challenge.

"The country is entitled to have nine justices deciding important

cases," says Northwestern University law professor Steven Lubet,

a judicial ethics expert.

"A justice who owns a stock that leads to repeated recusals ought

to consider getting rid of it."

The financial disclosure forms also catalog an array of trips,

lecture fees and gifts reported by the justices.

Among them:

-- $ 15,000 in royalties from Princeton University Press to Scalia

for his 1997 book A Matter of Interpretation.

-- $ 550 in gifts, also to Scalia, for his participation in a

bocce tournament in Wolfeboro, N.H. Bocce is an Italian lawn bowling

sport.

-- Reimbursement for 20 speaking trips by O'Connor to locations

such as Krakow, Poland, and Kankakee, Ill.

-- A free trip for Justice Clarence Thomas to the Bohemian Grove

club in California in the personal jet of Texas real estate magnate

Harlan Crow.

VALUE OF ASSETS

Here is the value of assets reported by the nine Supreme Court
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justices in their 1997 financial disclosure forms released this

week. The values are reported in ranges, not as precise figures,

and do not include the value of their primary homes. The justices

are listed in order from highest to lowest in asset value, along

with a comparison to their 1996 reports.

-- Ruth Bader Ginsburg, $ 5.9 million to $ 24.1 million, up from

$ 4.9 million to $ 15.4 million in 1996.

-- Stephen Breyer, $ 4.3 million to $ 15.9 million, up from $ 3.8

million to $ 14.9 million.

-- Sandra Day O'Connor, $ 2.3 million to $ 5.6 million, up from

$ 2 million to $ 4.9 million.

-- David Souter, $ 1.1 million to $ 5.3 million, down slightly

from $ 1.3 million to $ 5.3 million.

-- John Paul Stevens, $ 1.29 million to $ 2.74 million, up slightly

from $ 1.24 million to $ 2.59 million.

-- Antonin Scalia, $ 675,000 to $ 1.59 million, up from $ 630,000

to $ 1.37 million.

-- Chief Justice William Rehnquist, $ 210,000 to $ 590,000, unchanged

from 1996.

-- Anthony Kennedy, $ 30,000 to $ 280,000, down from $ 45,000 to

$ 360,000.

-- Clarence Thomas, $ 30,000 to $ 175,000, down from $ 80,000 to

$ 275,000.

Source: Administrative Office of U.S. Courts, The Associated Press.
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Letter to James Duff on Virginia
Thomas’ Income

01.21.2011

James C. Duff

Secretary to the Judicial Conference of the United States

Administrative Office of the United States Courts

Suite 2-301

One Columbus Circle, N.E.

Washington, DC 20544

Dear Mr. Duff:

It has come to our attention that Justice Thomas has failed to disclose the non-investment
income of his spouse, Virginia Thomas, for her employment at the Heritage Foundation in
2003-2007, and at Liberty Central in 2009.

According to the Heritage Foundation’s Form 990s filed with the Internal Revenue Service, Ms.
Thomas earned a salary in excess of $120,000 each year between 2003 and 2007. In 2009,
Ms. Thomas became the founding CEO of a new 501(c)(4) organization, Liberty Central. The
current CEO, Sarah Field, told the New York Times that Ms. Thomas was compensated for her
work at Liberty Central at a salary set by the board.

Nonetheless, for each year from 2003 to 2009, Justice Thomas checked the box for “None” for
“Spouse’s Non-Investment Income” on his annual disclosure forms. (See attached table and
links.)

The Ethics in Government Act of 1978 requires federal officials, including Supreme Court
justices, to disclose their spouse’s income. See 5 U.S.C. app. � 102(e)(1)(A). The statute

https://www.commoncause.org/
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requires the Judicial Conference to refer to the Attorney General the name of any federal judge
that it “has reasonable cause to believe has.willfully falsified or willfully failed to file
information to be reported.” 5 U.S.C. app. � 104.

Common Cause respectfully requests that the Judicial Conference make such a determination
in the case of Justice Thomas, and if reasonable cause is found, to refer the matter to the
Attorney General.

Without disclosure, the public and litigants appearing before the Court do not have adequate
information to assess potential conflicts of interest, and disclosure is needed to promote the
public’s interest in open, honest and accountable government.

Thank you for your attention to this important matter.

Sincerely,

Bob Edgar

President and CEO

Arn H. Pearson, Esq.

Vice President for Programs

Supreme Court Justice Clarence Thomas’s failure to disclose income of spouse

Year

Virginia Thomas’s Salary

According to Justice Thomas’s Disclosure*

2003

$ 121,291 from Heritage Foundation

Recorded as ‘None’

2004

$131,316 from Heritage Foundation

Recorded as ‘None’
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2005

$144,245 from Heritage Foundation

Recorded as ‘None’

2006

$144,193 from Heritage Foundation

Recorded as ‘None’

2007

$145,544 from Heritage Foundation

Recorded as ‘None’

2008

Not Known

Recorded as ‘None’

2009

According to Sarah Field, current Liberty Central CEO and general counsel, Virginia Thomas
received a Salary from Liberty Central as founding CEO. Amount received is unknown.

Recorded as ‘None’

*Source: Judicial Watch

TITLE 5 – APPENDIX

ETHICS IN GOVERNMENT ACT OF 1978

TITLE I – FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS OF FEDERAL PERSONNEL

� 102. Contents of reports

(e) (1) (A) The source of items of earned income earned by a spouse from any person which
exceed $1,000 and the source and amount of any honoraria received by a spouse, except that,
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with respect to earned income (other than honoraria), if the spouse is self-employed in
business or a profession, only the nature of such business or profession need be reported.

� 104. Failure to file or filing false reports

(a) (1) The Attorney General may bring a civil action in any appropriate United States district
court against any individual who knowingly and willfully falsifies or who knowingly and willfully
fails to file or report any information that such individual is required to report pursuant to
section 102. The court in which such action is brought may assess against such individual a civil
penalty in any amount, not to exceed $50,000.

(2)

(A) It shall be unlawful for any person to knowingly and willfully-

(i) falsify any information that such person is required to report under section 102; and

(ii) fail to file or report any information that such person is required to report under section
102.

(B) Any person who-

(i) violates subparagraph (A)(i) shall be fined under title 18, United States Code,

imprisoned for not more than 1 year, or both; and

(ii) violates subparagraph (A)(ii) shall be fined under title 18, United States Code.

(b) The head of each agency, each Secretary concerned, the Director of the Office of
Government Ethics, each congressional ethics committee, or the Judicial Conference, as the
case may be, shall refer to the Attorney General the name of any individual which such official
or committee has reasonable cause to believe has willfully failed to file a report or has willfully
falsified or willfully failed to file information required to be reported. Whenever the Judicial
Conference refers a name to the Attorney General under this subsection, the Judicial
Conference also shall notify the judicial council of the circuit in which the named individual
serves of the referral.

(c) The President, the Vice President, the Secretary concerned, the head of each agency, the
Office of Personnel Management, a congressional ethics committee, and the Judicial
Conference, may take any appropriate personnel or other action in accordance with applicable
law or regulation against any individual failing to file a report or falsifying or failing to report
information required to be reported.
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[All emphasis added]
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MEMORANDUM  

To: Chairman Ron Wyden, Senate Committee on Finance 
From:  Finance Committee Democratic Staff 
Date: October 25, 2023 
Re: Clarence Thomas did not repay entire principal on $267,230 loan from Tony Welters 
 

Executive Summary: 

The Democratic staff of the Senate Committee on Finance reviewed loan documentation 
indicating that Justice Clarence Thomas received a $267,230.00 loan from Tony Welters, which 
Thomas used to purchase a luxury motorcoach. While additional documents pertaining to the 
loan agreement may exist, documents reviewed by Democratic staff suggest that Justice Thomas  
did not repay a significant portion of the loan principal. In fact, none of the documents reviewed 
by Committee staff indicated that Thomas ever made payments to Welters in excess of the 
annual interest on the loan.   

Forgiveness of the loan results in a taxable event for Justice Thomas. Under tax rules, 
forgiveness of the entire principal by Welters requires Justice Thomas to include up to 
$267,230.00 in taxable income and report the amount on his tax filings. Justice Thomas did not 
disclose this forgiven debt on his ethics filings, raising questions as to whether Thomas properly 
reported the associated income on his tax returns.  

Background: 

 On August 5th 2023, reporting from the New York Times revealed the existence of an 
undisclosed financial arrangement involving Supreme Court Justice Clarence Thomas and 
Anthony Welters.1 According to these reports, in 1999 Welters personally loaned Justice Thomas 
an unspecified amount of money to help finance the purchase of a luxury recreational vehicle, 
which he still owns today. Justice Thomas used the proceeds of this loan to buy a Prevost 
Marathon motor coach for a price of $267,230.00. Additionally, local department of motor 
vehicle records listed Welters as a lienholder on the original title certificate of the vehicle.  

 These reports raised serious questions regarding the terms of the loan agreement between 
Welters and Justice Thomas and the manner in which the debt was resolved. These questions 
included the dollar value of the loan, the interest rate charged on the loan, and the amounts of the 
loan that were repaid, forgiven or discharged. In response to questions from the New York 
Times, Welters stated that the loan was “satisfied” in 2008, but did not address whether it was 
repaid.    

 

                                                           
1 Clarence Thomas’s $267,230 R.V. and the Friend Who Financed It, The New York Times, Aug. 5, 2023 available 
online at https://www.nytimes.com/2023/08/05/us/clarence-thomas-rv-anthony-welters.html. As noted in the story, 
the relationship between Welters and Thomas predates Thomas’s time on the federal bench.    

https://www.nytimes.com/2023/08/05/us/clarence-thomas-rv-anthony-welters.html
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New evidence indicates that Justice Thomas failed to repay a significant portion of the 
principal of the $267,230.00 loan from Tony Welters  

 In order to understand the loan arrangement between Welters and Justice Thomas, 
Committee staff requested, and Tony Welters voluntarily provided, information about the loan.  
Committee staff reviewed several documents made available by Welters’ counsel related to the 
1999 loan from Welters to Justice Thomas and obtained the following new information:  

1. A Handwritten Note from Justice Thomas on Supreme Court Stationery Dated 
December 6, 1999. Committee staff reviewed a handwritten note dated December 6, 
1999 from Thomas to Welters, written on the Supreme Court stationery from the 
Chambers of Clarence Thomas. The note references a Promissory Note and Security 
Agreement, and says the documents should accurately reflect the understanding of 
Thomas and Welters. Justice Thomas’s note further states the agreements will be 
complied with to the letter.  
 

2. A Promissory Note Dated December 6, 1999. Committee staff reviewed a 
Promissory Note (“Note”) dated December 6, 1999. According to the Note, Clarence 
Thomas and Virginia Lamp Thomas, together as “Makers,” executed an agreement to 
pay Anthony Welters, as “Payee,” the principal sum of $267,230.00.2 The principal 
balance of the Note had an interest rate of 7.5% per annum. Interest payments on the 
note were due and payable annually each year on December 31, and the principal and 
all accrued unpaid interest was due no later than the maturity date of the Note. The 
stated maturity date of the Note was December 31, 2004. The Note included a 
referenced Security Agreement of the same date covering a “motor vehicle,” and 
characterizes the Note together with the Security Agreement as the “Loan 
Documents.”  
 

3. A Security Agreement Dated December 6, 1999.  Committee staff reviewed a 
Security Agreement (“Security”) dated December 6, 1999 between Clarence and 
Virginia L. Thomas, together as “Grantors,” and Anthony Welters as “Grantee.” The 
Security describes a loan made by Welters to the Thomases for the original principal 
amount of $267,230.00. According to the document, as a condition of the loan by 
Welters, the Thomases granted Welters a security interest in a 1991 Prevost by 
Marathon, in order to secure the payment of all amounts owed to Welters under the 
Promissory Note.  
 

4. Addendum to December 6, 1999 Promissory Note Dated December 31, 2004. 
Committee staff reviewed an Addendum to the December 6, 1999 Promissory Note. 
The addendum, dated December 31, 2004, extended the maturity date of the 
Promissory Note by ten years, from December 31, 2004 to December 31, 2014. This 

                                                           
2 The loan documents were executed jointly by Clarence Thomas and his wife Virginia Lamp Thomas.  However, for 
simplicity this memo will sometimes refer to the loan agreement as between Clarence Thomas and Anthony 
Welters.  
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addendum was signed by Clarence Thomas and Virginia L. Thomas, together as 
“Makers,” and described Anthony Welters as “Payee.” The addendum made clear that 
the unpaid principal on the loan continued to bear interest and that annual interest 
payments would be due. It also specified that all other provisions of the original loan 
agreement remained in force.  
 

5. Bank Check from Clarence Thomas to Anthony Welters, Dated December 21, 
2000, for Motorcoach Payment. Committee staff reviewed a check from First Union 
National Bank dated December 21, 2000. The check was from Clarence Thomas to 
Anthony Welters in the amount of $20,042.23. The check’s memo line stated it was 
for a motorcoach payment. According to Committee staff calculations, the annual 
interest payment on a $267,230.00 loan at 7.5% interest is $20,042.25.  

 
6. A Handwritten Note from Anthony Welters to Clarence Thomas, Dated 

November 22, 2008. Committee staff reviewed a handwritten note dated November 
22, 2008 from Anthony Welters to Justice Thomas. Welters’ note states that Thomas 
has been paying Welters interest only on Thomas’s bus for many years.3 Welters’ 
note indicates that after Thomas’s upcoming payment, Welters would no longer seek 
further payments from Justice Thomas on the loan because, according to Welters’ 
note, Welters believed that Thomas had paid interest greater than the purchase price 
of the bus, and that Welters did not feel it was appropriate to continue to accept 
payments even though he had the right to them.  

Analysis 

 Based on the documents reviewed by Committee staff, staff confirmed that on or around 
December 6, 1999, Anthony Welters loaned Justice Clarence Thomas and his wife Virginia L. 
Thomas $267,230.00 for the purchase of a 1991 Prevost Marathon. The loan agreement between 
Welters and Thomas consisted of a Promissory Note and Security Agreement, and constituted an 
“interest only” loan with an annual interest rate of 7.5%.  

In a handwritten note on Supreme Court stationery, Justice Thomas indicated that he 
would comply with the terms of the loan agreement to the letter. Thomas made at least one 
annual payment to Welters in an amount almost exactly equal to the annual interest due to 
Welters. On the original maturity date of the loan agreement, Thomas executed an extension of 
the agreement extending the note an additional ten years.   

In November 2008, 9 years after the loan agreement was executed, Welters forgave the 
balance of the loan to Thomas in recognition of the payments made by Thomas which Welters 
characterized as interest only payments that exceeded the amount of the original loan. While 
additional documents pertaining to the loan agreement may exist and provide more clarity to the 

                                                           
3 The note states that Thomas had been making payments to Welters for “ten plus” years, however at the time 
Welters’ note was written the agreement had only been in place for nine years.  
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agreement, none of the documents reviewed by Committee staff indicated that Thomas ever 
made payments to Welters in excess of the annual interest on the loan.4  

Based on the documents reviewed by Committee staff, Anthony Welters forgave a  
substantial amount, or even all of the principal balance of his loan to Clarence Thomas, 
constituting of the forgiveness of approximately $267,230.00 of debt owed by Justice Thomas.   

Tax consequences for Justice Thomas arising from hundreds of thousands of dollars in 
forgiven debt  

 The new evidence obtained by the Committee raises a number of potentially serious tax 
questions for Justice Thomas. The revelation that Justice Thomas had up to $267,000 in debt 
forgiven and failed to repay the entire principal of the loan would have generated a significant 
amount of taxable income for Justice Thomas.  

 The tax code makes clear that in instances where debt is canceled, forgiven, or discharged 
for less than the amount owed, the borrower must report the amount canceled or forgiven as 
income for tax purposes.5, 6 The November 22, 2008 handwritten note from Welters to Justice 
Thomas indicated that Welters felt that Justice Thomas had made interest payments over and 
above the purchase price of the motorcoach when Welters stopped collecting any further 
payments from Justice Thomas.  

Justice Thomas did not report the forgiven debt on his 2008 Financial Disclosure Report.  
Since the loan agreement with Welters was first reported in August 2023, Justice Thomas has not 
provided any information on loan payments made to Welters, or stated whether he properly 
reported the income from the forgiven debt on his tax returns.  

 

                                                           
4 Representatives for Welters also indicated that they were not currently aware of documents indicating whether 
Thomas had made payments to Welters in excess of the annual interest payments.  
5 26 USC 61 “income from discharge of indebtedness” defined as taxable income; 26 USC 108 “Income from 
Discharge of Indebtedness.” 
6 In certain cases, a forgiven loan may be recharacterized as a taxable gift; however, documents reviewed by the 
Committee indicate that the loan was intended to be established at arm’s length.  Under federal tax law and 
regulations, bona fide business transfers are presumed not to be taxable gifts, if they are made at arm’s length and 
free from donative intent. See Treas. Reg. 25.2512-8. 
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